1969

**Golden L. Allen v. Calvin L. Rampton, Governor of the State of Utah, Sherman J. Preece, State Auditor of Utah, Herbert F. Smart, Director Of Finance, W. Smoot Brimhall, Commissioner, Financial Institutions, and The Board Of Examiners of the State of Utah :  
Appellant's Brief**

### STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is an action by the plaintiff, the State Treasurer of Utah, a constitutional officer, against the defendants pursuant to the Declaratory Judgments Act (Rule 57, **Utah Rules of Civil Procedure**, and Chapter 33, Title 78, **Utah Code Annotated**, 1953).

In this proceeding, the plaintiff asks the court to declare the portions of the State Money Management Act, Chapter 206, **Laws of Utah**, 1969, (Senate Bill #205), which affect the State Treasurer to be unconstitutional and additionally requests that the defendants be enjoined from implementing said sections of the act.

#### DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The trial court in a Memorandum decision (Record Page 73 Et. seq.) held that the State Money Management Act, Chapter 206, **Laws of Utah**, 1969 (Senate Bill 205) was constitutional and ordered that the plaintiff's complaint be dismissed with prejudice on the merits.

From this decision, the plaintiff has appealed.

#### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The appellant seeks reversal of the judgment of the lower court and asks the Supreme Court to determine that the State Money Management Act, Chapter 206, **Laws of Utah**, 1969 (Senate Bill 205) is unconstitutional in whole or in part, i.e., the portions thereof specifically and referred to in the Complaint of the plaintiff (Record p. 1-6).

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The plaintiff is the State Treasurer of Utah. He is a constitutional officer created under the provisions of Article VII, Section One of the Constitution of Utah and comprises a part of the executive department which consists of the Governor, the Secretary of State, State Auditor, State Treasurer and Attorney General.

The State Treasurer is an elective officer required to perform "such duties as are prescribed by this constitution and as may be prescribed by law."

Section Seventeen of Article VII of the Constitution provides that "The Treasurer shall be the custodian of public monies," and then additionally provides that he shall "perform such other duties as may be provided by law."

Those additional duties are described to a large extent in Chapter 4 of Title 67, **Utah Code Annotated**, 1953.

Under the provisions of various State statutes, the plaintiff, as State Treasurer, and his predecessor State Treasurer's have made deposits of public funds in qualified depositories designated by the State Depository Board (Chapter 1 of Title 51, **Utah Code Annotated**, 1953). Pursuant to that act, the State Treasurer determines the amount of deposits that may be made in any one depository and the amount of available cash necessary to take care of immediate cash flow needs.

In pursuance of the provisions of Sections 33-1-4 and 33-1-4.1 relating to the investment of public funds, the State Treasurer has determined what constitutes idle funds or funds not necessary for the immediate needs of any of the departments whose funds are in his hands and has determined the types of obligations of the United States in which investment would be made. The State Treasurer again determined "the cash flow needs" of the State and its respective departments in order to determine the maturities of the obligations of the United States which were purchased subject to the limitation that he not purchase any item having a maturity of more than five years from date of purchase. Similarly, under the provisions of Section 33-1-4.1, management of investments was in the hands of the State Treasurer with respect to bonds of the United States and of any municipalities, school district or water conservancy district permitted to be handled under that



section. Accordingly, the State Treasurer was required to establish methods, practices and procedures for investment, reinvestment, purchase, sale or exchange transactions regarding public funds and has been required to determine the extent to which a portion of the public funds should remain available for current expenditures.

Historically, the State Treasurer during the days that Utah was a territory and thereafter has received all money or property belonging to the territory or the State and apparently dealt with that money in such manner as would give assurance that it would be available for the expenditures of the State (**Territorial Laws of Utah**, 1851-70).

At Chapter 38, page 35, Laws of 1852, Sections 3 and 4 of the **Territorial Laws** provided as follows:

### **SECTION 3.**

“The treasurer shall receive all monies or other property belonging to the territory that may be raised by taxation or otherwise; and shall procure suitable books in which it shall enter an account of his receipts and disbursements, to whom and on what account.”

### **SECTION 4.**

“The treasurer shall pay all money that may come into his hands, by virtue of his office, upon drafts and orders countersigned by the auditor of public accounts; and shall annually report to the governor on or before the first day of November, or often-or . . . .”

The compiled **Laws of Utah**, 1876, Title IV, Sections 46 and 47 contain substantially the same language as above quoted with reference to Sections 3 and 4 of Chapter 38, **Laws of Utah**, 1852.

In the compiled **Laws of Utah**, 1876, provision was made in Title 12, Section 2068, which established a list of

crimes by officers of that State including the State Treasurer which involved revenue and property of the State. Subparagraph 3 of Section 2068 made it a crime if "he fails to keep same in his possession until disbursed or paid out by authority of law." Subparagraph 4 provided that it was a crime if he "unlawfully deposits the same or any portion thereof in any book or with any banker or other person."

The compiled **Laws of Utah**, 1888, contained similar provisions as those referred to above at Section 4603.

The Money Management Act, among other things, creates a division of investments in the Office of the State Treasurer. (Section 4, Chapter 206, **Laws of Utah**, 1969.) It creates an Investment Council within the division of investments and provides that the Investment Council shall be comprised of the State Treasurer, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions and three other members appointed by the Governor with the advice and consent of the State Treasurer and the Senate. (Section 5, Chapter 206, **Laws of Utah**, 1969)

The Act impowers the Investment Council to establish the policies of the division of investments, to advise counsel and direct the Investment officer and the financial analyst to adopt and promulgate rules and regulations pertaining to the investment of public funds and in general to perform a series of other functions relating to the administration of public funds and the qualification and control of depositories.

The Act at Section 9, provides, among other things, for the employment of a "Chief Administrative Officer of the Division of Investments and a Deputy Administrative Officer of the Division to be known as the Financial Analyst."

The Investment Officer and the Financial Analyst "shall be appointed by the State Treasurer with the approval of at least four members of the Investment Council, and their respective salaries shall be fixed by the Council in consultation with the Director of Finance and approved by the Board of Examiners."

Moreover, Section 9 provides that the Investment Officer and the Financial Analyst shall serve at the will of the Investment Council.

Section 11 of the Act describes the duties of the Investment Officer which generally stated relate to the investment and reinvestment of public funds.

## ARGUMENT

### Point 1

THE CONSTITUTIONAL DUTY OF THE STATE TREASURER AS "CUSTODIAN OF PUBLIC MONEY" INCLUDES THE POWERS OF DEPOSIT AND INVESTMENT DESCRIBED IN SECTIONS 7 AND 11 OF THE MONEY MANAGEMENT ACT.

As a custodian of public monies it has been held that the State Treasurer, in the absence of express authority, has power to deposit public funds in the banks in accordance with ordinary business practice and may stipulate for and receive interest thereon. (59 C.J. p. 228, "States," Par. 374)

See also C.J.S. 1191 Par. 155.

See also **U. S. Fidelity Company, etc. v. Taylor Guarantee**, 200 F, 44., **State v. McFetridge**, 54 N.W. 1 (84 Wis. 473).

In practice, the State Treasurer has in fact made deposits of funds into banks of his choosing subject to deter-

mination as to qualification of depositories by the State Depository Board (See Statutory Citation in Statement of Facts) and subject to determinations as to the required interest rate that must be paid by qualified depositories established by the State Depository Board.

In practice, too, the State Legislature has recognized the duty of the treasurer so to do but has provided limitations and controls over the qualifications of the depositories, the amount of interest they may pay and has imposed limits as to the amount that may be placed in the custody of any one depository. (Section 51-4-1, Et. seq., **Utah Code Annotated**, 1953), but determinations as to the amount of the deposits placed in any one bank has been recognized in practice as the duty of the State Treasurer.

The practice followed over many years may determine the scope of the constitutional functions of the State Treasurer or of any other constitutional officer. This was recognized by the Utah Supreme Court in **Tite v. State Tax Commission**, 57 P. 2d 734 p. 738.

So too both practice and state law has recognized the duty of the investment of public money within the custody of the State Treasurer in securities of the Federal Government. (Section 33-1-4, **Utah Code Annotated**, 1953).

In practice this investment in Federal bonds has been followed by State Treasurers subject to approval as to type of investment and amount of interest by the Board of Loan Commissioners.

The decision as to whether or not any of the public money within his custody should be invested in securities was made by the State Treasurer and incidental to the exercise of that duty the State Treasurer determined the maturity dates at which he would make purchases of bonds

after making a determination as to daily balances of cash needed by the various departments whose funds were in his control.

Accordingly, he made determinations as to whether or not they should be short term or long term investments as contemplated by the provisions of Section 3 of the State Money Management Act.

The State Treasurer accordingly asserts that the power to make other types of investments than those heretofore allowed by statute, and the duty to make said investments is a part of the constitutional functions of the State Treasurer.

Generally speaking, the Treasurer of a state has those constitutional duties concerning the holding of funds of the state which are usually involved in the duties of a treasurer (**Tucker, Secretary of State, et al., v.State** (Indiana) 35 N.E. Rep. 2nd, 270). To hold otherwise would place a treasurer in an untenable position. It is generally held that public officers who have charge of public funds and public money are charged with the duty as trustees to disperse and expend the money for the purposes and in the manner prescribed by law and they are liable if they divert the trust funds from the governmental purposes for which they were collected. (43 Am. Jur. p. 111, Par 306, Annot, 96 ALR, 664).

It is well established, also, that one duty of a public officer entrusted with public money is to keep that money safely and this duty he performs at his peril.

According to the weight of authority, numerically at least, a public officer in the absence of statutory provisions to the contrary is held to a much stricter liability than the fiduciaries handling private funds. He is absolutely liable as an in-

surer for the safekeeping of funds in his custody until dispersed in regular course and is therefore liable for losses which occur even without his fault. (43 Am. Jur. 113 Par. 309) (Am. Jur. cites numerous cases in footnotes 5, 6 and 7, page 113 and annotations at 18 ALR 982; 38 ALR 1512, s 96 ALR 295; 93 ALR 821, 155 ALR 437)

**Tooele County v. De La Mare**, 90 Utah 46, 59 P2nd, 1155.

This strict accountability of public treasurers has even been applied to the functions of a public treasurer in the selection of depositories.

In most jurisdictions in the absence of statutes to the contrary, the rule is firmly established that a public officer entrusted with the custody of public monies is personally liable for their loss through the failure of the bank in which he has deposited them, however careful and prudent he may have been. It makes no difference that he believes the bank to be sound or that it has generally been so regarded and that in depositing the funds he merely followed a long prevailing custom. (ALR cites numerous cases in footnotes 3, 4 and 5 and annotation at 65 ALR for 814).

Plaintiff affirms that the State Treasurer has by constitution the custody and control of the money of the State and that said custody and control includes the function of managing, investing, reinvesting and depositing the monies of the State and that because his power is derived from the constitution, he cannot be deprived of such control by the legislature. In Re: **House Resolution 12 Colorado** 395, 21 P. 486. **Tucker, Secretary of State, et al., v. State**, 35 N.E. Rep. 2nd, 270 (Indiana). **Hudson v. Kelly** (Ariz.) 263, P2nd, 362 **Thompson v. Leg. Audit. Comm.** (N.M.) 448 P2nd 799, **Wright v. Callahan** (Idaho) 99 P2nd, 961.

Contrary to the conclusion reached by the District Court in its Memorandum decision, the plaintiff does not assert that the Legislature has no power to legislate directives to the State Treasurer with reference to the manner of investment and the manner in which funds of the State will be managed (Record p. 78). It is the assertion, however, of the State Treasurer that the State Legislature may not in addition to exercising said controls, designate other administrators to perform the functions of managing the money and making the investments. The framers of the Constitution of the State of Utah must be deemed to have considered the term "custody of public monies" to encompass something more than a mere depository; otherwise, why the creation of an elective office deliberately insulated from powers and pressures that would arise were it an appointive office.

Custody by an elective constitutionally created officer who is hedged around with a firm obligation to protect the public monies and expend them only in a manner directed by lawful means must encompass exclusive power or obligation to dispose or handle funds such as make deposits, determine the amount of a deposit, with whom the deposit should be made and when the money should be withdrawn or mature. Custody must include the expenditure of the money, either pursuant to directives of the Legislature or to expend the money to purchase securities, i.e., bonds or stock in order to utilize idle funds. Until the Money Purchase Act was enacted, the ability to invest was limited to bonds of various kinds. But the fact remains that custody was deemed to include a determination upon the part of the State Treasurer as to which bonds would be purchased, the maturities of the bonds purchased and the interest to be derived therefrom. These powers had to do with the ability to correlate the availability of money with the "cash flow

demands" of the various departments of government whose funds were being managed. Throughout the years, this custody of the State Treasurer was subjected to legislative guidelines. The legislature limited the State Treasurer as to the types of bonds, imposed limitations as to maximum or minimum interest, maximum maturities, the types of issuer's, etc. Moreover, the Legislature during the past years, imposed the qualifications of depositories and created a depository board which made determinations as to the qualifications of the depositories but who were required to leave the decision as to when a deposit would be made and with whom in the hands of the State Treasurer. (Title 51, Chapters 4 and 5)

It is not conceivable that "the Treasurer" is limited to the ministerial chores of a clerk, i.e., writing the voucher or check, the bookkeeping and the making of reports. It does not seem conceivable that the State Treasurer would be held accountable for the safety of the funds in his care if he was a mere clerk and had no powers with reference to the management of the funds.

If the Investment Committee and the Investment Director carried out the management functions of the money set forth in the Money Management Act, the State Treasurer would not be able to make the determinations requisite to protecting the safety of the funds in his care and custody.

The plaintiff does not assert that the Legislature could not accomplish the aims desired in the Money Management Act to more economically utilize idle funds, but he asserts that this must be done within the framework of his constitutional powers and obligations to retain custody and control of the money involved.



## POINT 2

THE CREATION BY THE LEGISLATURE OF AN INVESTMENT DIVISION WITHIN THE OFFICE OF THE STATE TREASURER, THE CREATION OF THE INVESTMENT COUNCIL AND THE CREATION OF AN INVESTMENT OFFICER AND FINANCIAL ANALYST TO ADMINISTER THE FUNCTIONS OF SAID DIVISION INDEPENDENTLY OR SEMI-INDEPENDENTLY OF THE STATE TREASURER ARE UNCONSTITUTIONAL ENCROACHMENTS UPON THE POWERS AND DUTIES OF THE STATE TREASURER AS A CONSTITUTIONAL OFFICER.

The Constitution of the State of Utah follows the pattern of establishing three departments of government which are comprised of the Legislative, Executive and the Judicial and expressly prohibits encroachment by one department upon the functions and powers of the other.

Article V, Section 1 of the **Utah Constitution** provides:

“The powers of the government of the State of Utah shall be divided into three district departments, the Legislative, the Executive, and the Judicial; and no person charged with the exercise of powers properly belonging to one of these departments, shall exercise any function appertaining to either of the others except in the cases herein expressly directed or permitted.

Article VII then describes the composition of the Executive Department in the following language:

“The Executive Department shall consist of Governor, Secretary of State, State Auditor, State Treasurer, and Attorney General, each of them shall hold his office for four years beginning on the first

Monday of January next after his election . . . They shall perform such duties as are prescribed by this constitution and as may be prescribed by law.

At Section 10 of Article VII, the Governor is given the powers of appointment of officers whose appointment or election is not otherwise provided for in the following language:

“The Governor shall nominate, and by and with the consent of the Senate appoint all State and District Officers whose offices are established by this constitution, or which may be created by law, and whose appointment or election is not otherwise provided for . . .”

At Section 17 of Article VII, the **Utah Constitution** describes the duties of the Treasurer jointly with a description of those of the Auditor in the following language:

“The Auditor shall be the auditor of public accounts, and the Treasurer shall be the custodian of public monies, and each shall perform such other duties as may be provided by law.”

It is the contention of the plaintiff, Treasurer, that the above constitutional organizational structure does not empower the Legislature to directly make appointments of deputies and personnel within the Office of the State Treasurer nor does it grant to the Legislature the power to delegate powers to appoint personnel and deputies of the Office of the State Treasurer to the Governor or to any other administrative officer who is a part of the Executive Department of the State of Utah. The power to appoint the subordinate officers and employees through whom the laws or duties and functions are to be performed by a Constitutional Officer is a necessary incident to the power to execute the laws. If any other Executive Department were granted the

power to make appointments of administrative personnel and employees of the office of the State Treasurer it would for all practical purposes nulify the provisions of Article VII, Section 1 of the State **Constitution** which creates the several constitutional officers, including the State Treasurer, and makes them elective officers selected by the public. The power to appoint deputies and administrators in an administrative office such as that of the Treasurer is for all practical purposes the power to administer the functions of that office.

One of the most recent leading cases which deals with this problem of the separation of powers and of the effect of the power of appointment is the case of **Tucker, Secretary of State, et. al., v. State**, (Indiana) 218 Ind. 614 35 N.E. Rep. 2nd, 270. That case involved the reorganization of the Executive branch of Government of the State of Indiana. That reorganization involved five separate statutes which provided for the termination of the tenure of various officers and boards, the placement of powers of appointment in the Governor and the realigning of the various duties and functions of the officers including some of their constitutional officers. The Supreme Court of Indiana, among other questions, was required to deal with the problem of appointment of officers by the Governor to the various administrative departments of government including the constitutional officers. That court had this to say:

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