1969

Golden L. Allen v. Calvin L. Rampton, Governor of the State of Utah, Sherman J. Preece, State Auditor of Utah, Herbert F. Smart, Director Of Finance, W. Smoot Brimhall, Commissioner, Financial Institutions, and The Board Of Examiners of the State of Utah : Respondent's Brief

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

CHAPTER 206, LAWS OF UTAH, 1969, DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH THE CONSTITUTIONAL DUTY OF THE TREASURER AS THE CUSTODIAN OF PUBLIC MON- EYS.

Chapter 206, Laws of Utah, 1969, known as the State Money Management Act, relates to the funds of the State of Utah and its political subdivisions; it provides for a system of centralized investment and management of those funds; in furtherance of this objective it creates a division of investments, an investment council, an investment officer and a financial analyst within the division, defining their various duties; the act, inter alia, provides for the qualifications of a qualified depository of public funds, and for the more prompt payment of state moneys.

The plaintiff-appellant claims that Chapter 206, Laws of Utah, 1969, contravenes the provisions of Section 17 of Article VII of the Constitution of Utah, which provides:

“The Auditor shall be Auditor of Public Accounts, and the Treasurer shall be the custodian of public moneys, and each shall perform such other duties as may be provided by law.”

It is most apparent that the only issue raised in this case turns on the definition of “custodian of public moneys”; for if the State Money Management Act does not contravene such constitutional duty of the Treasurer, there cannot be a violation of the Constitution, for the Treasurer “ * * * shall perform such other duties as may be provided by law.”

Plaintiff-appellant cites no cases or authority defining the phrase, “custodian of public moneys” or “custodian”, but asserts without warrant that the constitutional power of the State Treasurer “ * * * includes the function of managing, investing, reinvesting and depositing the monies of the State * * * ”. (Appellant’s Brief, page 9) The total absence of any authority in support of this proposition is significant.

Webster’s New International Dictionary, Second Edition defines “custodian” as follows: “one who has care or custody * * * ; a keeper.”

The term “custody” as applied to property is defined in 25 C.J.S., Custody, p. 90, as follows:

“The keeping of property by one who is charged with or assumes responsibility for its safety; the care and charge of property for one who retains the right to control it; the charge to keep and care for the owner, subject to his order and direction, without any interest or right therein adverse to him; such a relation toward it as would constitute possession if the person having custody had it on his own account.”

See *National Fire Insurance Co. v. Davis*, (Texas) 179 S. W. 2d 316; *U. S. v. One Ox-5 American Eagle Airplane*, 38 F2d 106.

According to 81 C.J.S., States, p. 1191:

“ * * * The legal title to public moneys in the hands of the state treasurer or other officer entitled to custody thereof is in the state and not in such officer.”

It is apparent that custody, and the role of a custodian, involve the care and charge of property for the owner, always subject to the order and direction of the owner. In the case of *Territory ex rel. City of Albuquerque v. Matson* (N. Mexico) 113 Pac. 816, the court, among other questions, had to decide whether under state law a city had the right to designate a depository of money in the hands of its treasurer. The statute in question provided that the treasurer “may be required to keep all moneys in his hands belonging to the corporation in such place of deposit as may be designated by ordinance.” The statute then stated: “Provided, however, no such ordinance shall be passed by which the custody of such money shall be taken from the treasurer.” Whether the foregoing statutory provisions were contradictory was analyzed by the court as follows:

“It should be borne in mind that the money is all the time the property of the city and not of the treasurer; that his duty is to receive it for the city and with it pay claims against the city which have been duly approved. Everything else is, or should be, subsidiary to this main object. In that connection, the word “custody” must

mean immediate charge and control under the law, and not the final absolute control of ownership. Suppose a person to be carrying on a business through a manager, and that he directs him to deposit all the money he receives in a certain bank in his own name as manager, and subject only to his checks as manager, could it be said with any show of reason that the money is not in his custody because he did not select the bank of deposit? And is a prisoner any less in the custody of the jailer because he holds him in a jail provided by the county and designated by law as the place of confinement for such a prisoner? If by the ordinance in question the city had, for instance, required the treasurer to deposit in the joint names of himself and some other officer of the city, and that payments from the deposit should be made only by checks signed by both such depositors, that obviously would have been calculated to deprive him of the custody of the money. But the mere designation of the bank in which he shall deposit, in his own name, and subject only to his own checks, as treasurer, without in the least restricting his right to pay out the money according to law, is not depriving him of the custody of the money.”

This court has recognized and upheld the right of the Utah State Land Board to make investment of certain state funds. See *State Board of Land Commissioners v. Ririe*, 56 Utah 213, 190 Pac. 59; *State Land Board v. State Finance Commission*, 12 Utah 2d 265, 365 P.2d 213. The results of these decisions are in accord with the argument advanced herein by defendants-respondents, but are contrary to that advocated by the Treasurer.

It is submitted that the position of the defendants-respondents anent the constitutional duties of the Treasurer is also in accord with legislation enacted regarding the deposit, investment, and management of public moneys. In this respect see Sections 51-5-1 to 51-5-13, U.C.A. 1953, as amended (Funds Consolidation Act); Sections 33-1-1 et seq., U.C.A. 1953, as amended (investments by the Director of Finance); Section 65-1-65, U.C.A. 1953, (investments by Utah State Land Board); Sections 51-1-1 to 51-1-11, U.C.A. 1953, (State Depository Act).

It is submitted that the Treasurer's constitutional duty as the "custodian of public moneys" does not involve the powers of managing, investing, reinvesting and depositing the moneys of the state as claimed by appellant. Clearly the definition of "custody" indicates that the Treasurer has the immediate charge to keep and care for the public moneys, subject to order and direction of the legislature, which has the absolute control. The duties and functions of the statutory officers set forth in Chapter 206, Laws of Utah, 1969, do not conflict with the custodial powers of the Treasurer, aforementioned; and the statute thus does not conflict with the Utah Constitution.

POINT II

THE OFFICES CREATED BY CHAPTER 206, LAWS OF UTAH, 1969, AND THE FUNCTIONS THEREOF DO NOT VIOLATE THE UTAH CONSTITUTION.

Plaintiff-appellant claims Chapter 206, Laws of Utah, 1969, to be unconstitutional because it provides for the creation of an investment council; an investment officer; a financial analyst; and the creation of an investment division within the office of the State Treasurer. Certain Utah Constitutional provisions are cited for support of this contention, namely: Article V, Section 1, which deals with the respective departments of government; Article VII, Section 1, which enumerates the offices in the executive department; Article VII, Section 10, which sets forth the appointive powers vested in the Governor; and Article VII, Section 17, which states that the Treasurer shall be the custodian of public moneys. The argument is that these provisions preclude the Legislature from either directly making appointments of deputies or other personnel within the office of the Treasurer, or empowering the Governor or any other executive officer to make such appointments.

This conclusion advanced is defective, for the Utah Constitution grants no power of appointment to the Treasurer, and provides for no constitutional officer under the control of the Treasurer. The office of the deputy treasurer is a creation of statute; the authority for the Treasurer to appoint a deputy is statutory. Section 67-9-1, U.C.A. 1953. Equally deficient are the cases

and authorities cited by the Treasurer, which tell us some interesting things about various matters, but which are inapplicable to the issues of the instant case.

In the case of *Ricks v. Department of State Civil Service* (La.) 8 So. 2d 49, it is stated:

“We have been unable to find any decision of this court passing on the question of whether or not a constitutional officer has a constitutional right to select his employees. However, it has been held in other states that state officers have no such constitutional right. The theory upon which these decisions are based is to the effect that the duties of an officer are those imposed by law, and the employees who assist him are not his employees, but the employees of the state. The employees are in public service and not private service, and the state, and not the officer, employs them and pays them. In other words, the officer does not have the vested or private personal right to select his subordinates. *People v. McCullough*, 254 Ill. 9, 98 N.E. 156, Ann. Cas. 1913B, 995; *People v. Loeffler*, 175 Ill. 585, 51 N.E. 785; *People v. Capp*, 61 Colo. 296, 158 P. 143; *Stowe v. Ryan*, 135 Or. 371, 296 P. 857.”

People v. Capp (Colo.) 158 P.143, involved the question of whether the Colorado civil service law restricted the constitutional appointive powers of the governor inasmuch as the law in question contemplated the certification of an eligible and prospective employee by the civil service commission. In answering the assertion that the discretion of the governor in making appointments was taken away, and he was thus deprived of his power to perform constitutional duties, the court stated:

“This proposition is sound when applied to constitutional officers, but in this case counsel have fallen into error in their conclusion because they have failed to distinguish between officers provided by the constitution and officers created by statute. There is no provision in the constitution giving the governor power to appoint the warden of the reformatory, or that requires the legislature to confer upon the governor the power to appoint that officer. The legislature was therefore free to confer that power upon some other official or board, as it might see fit, and because it originally conferred the power upon the governor is no reason why that body may not either qualify that power, or if so disposed, take it away entirely. Had the constitution created the office of warden, or had it provided that the governor should appoint the warden when the legislature created the office, it may be conceded that then the governor’s discretion could not be interfered with by the legislature. Hence it is plain that the statutory provision here assailed in no sense contravenes the constitutional provision in question.”

Stowe v. Ryan (Oregon) 296 P. 857, involved the right of the civil service commission to terminate a deputy county clerk, under the Oregon law which authorized such action, and whether the law violated the state constitution. The court held:

“The petitioner discusses at great length the right of the commission to interfere with the county clerk’s office by removing or appointing a deputy county clerk. The office of the county clerk is a constitutional office; but that of deputy county clerk is strictly statutory. If the appointing power were expressly given to the county clerk by the Constitution, then in such case the commission

would have no right to appoint or discharge the deputy county clerk.”

It is thus apparent that the legislature may create offices and provide for their manner of appointment, tenure, and other incidents, unless otherwise restricted by the constitution, and in the instant case no such restraint is indicated. The Utah Constitution does not provide for the offices in question, nor grant authority for the Treasurer to appoint to such offices. Therefore, it is submitted that the offices and organizational structure set forth in Chapter 206, Laws of Utah, 1969, do not contravene the Constitution of Utah; and it is further submitted that the duties incident to these statutory offices do not conflict with the Treasurer’s constitutional duty as custodian of the public moneys. (See Point I)

POINT III

TO BE UNCONSTITUTIONAL, A STATUTE MUST CLEARLY VIOLATE A SPECIFIC CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISION AND THE VIOLATION MUST BE CLEAR, COMPLETE, AND UNMISTAKABLE; NO SUCH VIOLATION IS SHOWN HERE.

It is fundamental that the legislative body of the state has absolute control over its finances. Unless limited by constitutional provisions, the power of the state legislature is plenary and it may direct and control the disposition of all state funds. See 81 C.J.S., States, pages 1145-1146. As has been stated in the case of *State v. Mason*, 94 Utah 501, 78 P.2d 920:

“The Legislature has every power which has not been fully granted to the Federal Government or which is not prohibited by State Constitution.”

Similarly in *Lehi City v. Meiling*, 87 Utah 237, 48 P.2d 530, the court held :

“It is a truism recognized by all the authorities that the Legislature of a state is vested with the whole of the legislative power of the state and may deal in any subject within the scope of the constitutional government except as such power is limited or directed by express provision of the Constitution or necessary implication arising therefrom. “State Constitutions are mere limitations, and not grants, of powers.” *Salt Lake City v. Christensen Co.*, 34 Utah, 38, 95 P. 523, 17 L.R.A. (N.S.) 898.”

It is submitted that the power of the legislature over the appropriation and expenditure of public funds includes as an incident thereof the power over the management, investment, and deposit of such funds.

Attack having been made on the validity of Chapter 206, Laws of Utah, 1969, any analysis of the assertions of unconstitutionality can only be pursuant to the guide lines heretofore set forth by this Court. Thus in the *Lehi City* case, *supra*, it was stated :

“In approaching the subject we have in mind the rule that when an act of the Legislature is attacked on grounds of unconstitutionality the question presented is not whether it is possible to condemn the act, but whether it is possible to uphold it. The presumption is always in favor of validity, and legislative enactments must be sustained unless clearly in violation of fundamental law. *Wadsworth v. Santaquin City*, 83 Utah, 321, 28 P.(2d) 161. Every presumption will be indulged in favor of legislation and only clear and demonstrable usurpation of power will authorize judicial

interference with legislative action. *Green v. Frazier*, 253 U.S. 233, 40 S. Ct. 499, 64 L. Ed. 878.”

The test of determining whether a statute is invalid has been delineated also in several other Utah decisions, including *Trade Commission of Utah v. Skaggs Drug Centers, Inc., et al*, 21 Utah 2d 431, 446 P.2d 958, wherein it was held:

“An alleged violation of the Constitution must be of a specific provision of a particular article thereof. We have repeatedly held in order to be declared unconstitutional, the statute must clearly violate some constitutional provision, and further, the violation must be clear, complete and unmistakable.”

See also *Gubler et al. v. Utah State Teacher's Retirement Board et al*, 113 Utah 188, 192 P.2d 580; *Snow v. Keddington*, 113 Utah 325, 195 P.2d 234.

The claim of the plaintiff-appellant that Chapter 206, Laws of Utah, 1969, is unconstitutional, hardly is supported by a showing of any violation which is clear, complete, and unmistakable. To the contrary, the legislation is clearly compatible with the provisions of the Utah Constitution.

We adopt in argument the comments of the learned Judge of the lower court, who in referring to the Utah Constitution and the issues involved in this case, concluded in part:

“Under Article VII, Section 3, the only requirements for one to qualify as State Treasurer are that he be a qualified elector and a resident citizen of the state for five years next preceding his election. It also provides that the State Treasurer shall be ineligible to election as his own successor.

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